FILED 10-31-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### State of Wisconsin

#### Court of Appeals District I

Case No. 2022AP187 CR and 2022AP188 CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Michele M. Ford,

Milwaukee County Cases 21CM1807 and 21CM3452

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Incompetency Finding, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Hon. Jack Davila, Presiding

Brief and Appendix of Defendant-Appellant

Kimberley K. Bayer State Bar No. 1087900 P.O. Box 14081 West Allis, WI 53214 (414) 975-1861 bayerlaw3@gmail.com

Attorney for Michele Ford

### **

#### **Issue Presented**

An attorney representing a client in competency proceedings revealed her observations of the client's potential incompetency to the evaluator, even though the client wished to be found competent. Was this ineffective assistance of counsel?

Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 5 of 15

#### **Statement on Oral Argument and Publication**

Publication is probably not warranted because this case mostly involves the application of facts to settled law. It may, however, be warranted to help clarify how to raise ineffective assistance of counsel in appeals of competency proceedings.

Oral argument is not requested but would be welcomed if ordered.

#### Statement of the Case

Michele Ford graduated from the University of Wisconsin with a law degree and worked as an attorney until 2015. (R. 16:3, App. 123). A criminal complaint filed against her on June 29, 2021 alleges that, more than one month earlier, Ms. Ford yelled profanities at her neighbor, threw a potted plant at him, and waved a knife from a distance of about 30 feet. (R. 2, App. 100). Police said that Ms. Ford refused to speak to them and continued to hold her knife while they broke down her door and Tazed her. (Id.)

Ms. Ford missed her initial appearance on July 27 but appeared in court on August 4, 2021 and pled not guilty. (R. 50:1). On August 26, 2021, she appeared for a pre-trial conference and the district attorney raised competency, adding that at the last court hearing Ms. Ford brought a dog to court, said someone had been stealing her mail, pled "no-contest" to proposed bail conditions, and "it's our position that the defendant needs assistance of counsel." (R. 88:3, App. 106).

Ms. Ford said she was "absolutely competent," had "significant courtroom experience," and that there was no reason to question her competence, wondering out loud what the State's motive could be for raising the issue. (R. 88:3, App. 106). The court agreed that there was probable cause "in the complaint" to raise competency and scheduled Ms. Ford a competency evaluation. (R. 88:3-4, App. 106-107).

Ms. Ford missed her next court appearance on October 8, 2021 and was arrested and jailed later that day. The next day, October 9, she was jailed and charged with bail jumping. (R. 2, App. 104).<sup>2</sup> On October 15, Ms. Ford was seen by a competency evaluator, Dr. Pankeiwicz. (R. 16:2, App. 122). In his October 21 report, Dr. Pankiewicz stated that he could not tell whether Ms. Ford was competent or not and recommended that Ms. Ford undergo a second,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> These are consolidated cases. References are to the lower-numbered case, 2021CM1807, unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Reference is to the 2021CM3452 case.

Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 7 of 15

inpatient assessment (R. 16:4, App. 124). The court ordered as much at an October 25 status conference. (R. 89:5-6).

Ms. Ford was admitted to the Mendota Mental Health Institute on November 1, 2021. She was examined by Dr. Kristin Johnson on November 2, 2021 for around an hour. (R. 21:1, App. 125). The next day, Dr. Johnson spoke with Ms. Ford's attorney. (R. 21:2, App. 126).

In Dr. Johnson's words,

"Attorney Styler indicated Ms. Ford appears to have procedural understanding, but she was concerned that the approach Ms. Ford wanted to take with her case was not always based on sound logic or appropriate legal strategy. Attorney Styler indicated Ms. Ford did not want to embrace all of her legal charges as she believed her "stalker" was to blame. Attorney Styler also noted concern regarding Ms. Ford's mental health and well-being as she had observed some unusual behaviors, including Ms. Ford reading a book in court, interrupting her attorneys, giving them unusual legal advice outside of her area of previous practice, and using legal jargon incorrectly." (R. 21:7, App. 131).

Dr. Johnson, in a report dated November 5, 2021, said that Ms. Ford was not competent. (R. 21:9, App. 133). Ms. Ford contested the finding. The court found Ms. Ford incompetent. (R. 87:19-22, App. 118-121). Ms. Ford now appeals the finding of incompetency.

#### Argument

I. Ms. Ford's trial counsel performed deficiently when she described her observations about Ms. Ford's competency to the evaluator.

A person who "lacks substantial mental capacity" to understand legal proceedings or assist in her defense is legally incompetent. Wis. Stat. § 971.13. The assistant district attorney raised the issue of Ms. Ford's competency. Ms. Ford insisted that she was competent. (R. 88:3, App. 106) It is clear from trial counsel's conversation with Dr. Johnson

that trial counsel personally doubted Ms. Ford's competency. (R. 21:7, App. 131).

If the State had not raised competency, trial counsel would have been obligated to raise it even against Ms. Ford's wishes. This duty to the court is a mandatory but "narrow and limited breach" of counsel's duty of client confidentiality<sup>3</sup> that serves the purpose of preventing incompetent people from being found guilty of crimes. *State v. Meeks*, 2003 WI 104,¶44-48, 263 Wis. 2d 794, 666 N.W.2d 859.

In situations like this one, in which counsel and client disagree about competency, counsel should break confidentiality only to raise the issue with the court. Allowing defense attorneys to do more than that would unacceptably undermine the lawyer-client relationship. *State v. Daniel*, 2015 WI 44, ¶38, 362 Wis. 2d 74, 862 N.W.2d 867 ("Were we to place the burden of proving incompetency on defense counsel when defendant asserts competency it would create a conflict between an attorney's duty as an advocate and an attorney's duty as an officer of the court.")

Since Ms. Ford wanted to be found competent, her trial counsel should not have shared counsel's own doubts about Ms. Ford's competence with the evaluator. Trial counsel's opinions, perceptions, and impressions about Ms. Ford's mental capacity were confidential under Supreme Court Rule 20:1:6. She should not have shared them without Ms. Ford's permission and in service of Ms. Ford's goals.

To summarize: breaking confidentiality to work against Ms. Ford's goal of being found competent violated professional norms and left Ms. Ford without adversary counsel for the evaluation portion of the competency proceedings. Counsel therefore performed deficiently under *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

II. Ms. Ford need not show that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced her defense because absence of counsel at a critical

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Supreme Court Rule 20:1.6 codifies the duty of confidentiality.

Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 9 of 15

## stage of the competency hearings made them fundamentally unfair.

The United States Supreme Court recently stated prejudice is a requirement "in most cases" alleging ineffective assistance of counsel under *Strickland*, but not necessarily all. *Weaver v. Massachusetts*, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1910, 1911 (2017).

Weaver, whose counsel failed to object to the denial of a public trial, argued that "fundamental unfairness" is an alternative way to satisfy the *Strickland* prejudice prong. *Id.* at 1911. The majority ruled against Weaver because he did not persuade them that the deficient performance in his case—failure to object to a structural error—resulted in fundamental unfairness. *Id.* at 1913. However, Weaver's argument—that a showing of fundamental unfairness resulting from attorney error obviates the need for a defendant to show prejudice under *Strickland*—is very much in play.

It is Ms. Ford's position that the breach of confidentiality by her trial counsel left her without counsel during a critical stage of the competency proceedings and rendered those proceedings fundamentally unfair.

Denial of counsel during a critical stage of judicial proceedings results in a presumption of unfairness. *United States v. Cronic*, 466 U.S. 648, 659 (1984). Competency is a judicial determination. *State ex Rel. Haskins v. Dodge County Court*, 62 Wis. 2d 250, 264, 214 N.W.2d 575 (1974). The evaluation Ms. Ford underwent is a mandatory part of the competency proceedings under Wis. Stat. § 971.14(2)(a). The resulting report needed to meet specific requirements under § 971.14(3). The evaluation was a critical part of the proceedings because it was the center around which the rest of the proceedings orbited. While courts are not supposed to rubber stamp evaluators' opinions (see *Haskins* at 264), they are supposed to examine those opinions carefully; whether to accept or reject a particular evaluator's opinions is the main determination in a contested competency hearing.

Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 10 of 15

There is another sense in which these competency proceedings were fundamentally unfair to Ms. Ford. *Weaver* noted that the situation in which a criminal defendant is denied the right to defend him or herself at trial is structural error, even though it nearly always increases the probability of a bad outcome for the defendant. *Id.* at 1909. In the words of the *Weaver* majority, "that right is based on the fundamental legal principle that a defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the proper way to protect his own liberty." *Id.* 

By contesting the incompetency finding, Ms. Ford was making her choice about the proper way to protect her liberty, and she was entitled to that choice even though her counsel privately disagreed. For one thing, the incompetency finding affected her immediate liberty — following the finding on November 12, she ended up waiting until December 21, 2021 for a placement at a facility for remediation. (R. 36, App. 139). Furthermore, there remains a possibility that the judge could use the competency evaluation, with its negative observations about Ms. Ford's functioning, made by her own attorney, as a basis to find Ms. Ford dangerously unpredictable at a future sentencing hearing. *State v. Slagoski*, 2001 WI App. 112, ¶9, 244 Wis. 2d 49, 629 N.W. 2d 50. Finally, as a lawyer, the incompetency finding as recorded on CCAP could negatively affect Ms. Ford's prospects as a lawyer should she wish to practice again.

In short, trial counsel was not just absent from the competency proceedings during the evaluation stage. Ms. Ford was, at that critical stage, denied the right to decide what outcome to pursue. This made the entire competency proceedings fundamentally unfair and entitles her to reversal of the competency finding.

III. Although Ms. Ford should not be required to prove prejudice, she can nevertheless show that she was prejudiced by her trial counsel's actions.

Dr. Johnson's written conclusion twice cited specific statements by trial counsel, writing: Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 11 of 15

"This writer's experience along with the discussion with Ms. Ford's attorney raises significant concerning regarding her present ability to rationally consult with her attorney."

Later, "Ms. Ford was not a criminal attorney, yet she has offered legal advice to her attorneys that is not based on sound logic and has been resistant to exploring other options. While poor legal strategy does not necessarily equate incompetence, Ms. Ford's mental state appears to be contributing to her difficulty effectively navigating the criminal justice system." (R. 21:10, App. 134).

Trial counsel's inside perspective on what it was like to represent Ms. Ford lent critical support to Dr. Johnson's finding of incompetency. State ex rel Haskins v. Dodge County Court noted that evaluators are often too conservative in their competency recommendations. *Id.* at 264. Evaluators concluding incompetency seem more reliable when they can name as many concrete and specific reasons to doubt competency as possible. Trial counsel's doubts provided Dr. Johnson with an independent concrete basis for Dr. Johnson's conclusion. Without trial counsel's insight, Dr. Johnson may well have concluded that Ms. Ford's protestations of her own competency, the fact that her own lawyer had not been the one to raise the issue, the fact that Ms. Ford was a trained lawyer herself, and the fact that the original evaluator could not reach a conclusion supported a recommendation of competency. There is therefore a reasonable probability of a different outcome but for counsel's deficient performance.

# IV. There is no need for a *Machner* hearing in this case because there is no legal strategy that relieves trial counsel of the duty of confidentiality.

Most *Strickland* claims in Wisconsin require testimony from trial counsel as to her strategy and decision-making. *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 979, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905. This is so the court can determine "whether trial counsel's actions were the result of incompetence or deliberate trial strategies." *Id.* Testimony from trial counsel cannot reasonably be required under *Machner* and would add nothing to the

Case 2022AP000187 Brief of Appellant Filed 10-31-2022 Page 12 of 15

analysis of this case because there is no strategy that can unilaterally relieve counsel of the duty of confidentiality or the duty to pursue the client's goals.

Again, Ms. Ford said she was competent. But Ms. Ford's attorney helped to find her incompetent by providing the evaluator with confidential information about Ms. Ford. Simply put, trial counsel was wrong to talk to the evaluator about her doubts about Ms. Ford's competency. How or why she decided to do so is irrelevant.

Finally, note that this is a civil appeal of an incompetency finding in an underlying criminal proceeding. *State v. Scott*, 2018 WI 74, ¶33, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141. It is an appeal as of right under Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1). *Id.* at ¶34. There is no provision, as in Rule 809.30 and Rule 809.107 appeals, for postconviction proceedings before a Notice of Appeal must be filed.

For the reasons stated above, Ms. Ford does not believe remand for a fact-finding hearing is necessary. She would, however, welcome it if this court deems it necessary.

#### Conclusion

For all these reasons, Ms. Ford requests that this court reverse the finding of incompetency against Ms. Ford of November 11, 2021, or, in the alternative, remand to the circuit court for a *Machner* hearing.