Filed 12-30-2022

Page 1 of 18

FILED 12-30-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case Nos. 2022AP000187-CR & 2022AP000188-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

MICHELE M. FORD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Incompetency Finding, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, Hon. Jack Davila, Presiding

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

John Flynn Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1096413 John.Flynn@da.wi.gov Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

District Attorney's Office 821 West State Street, Room 405 Milwaukee, WI 53233-1485 (414) 278-4646

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

ARGUMENT

I. The notice of appeal was not filed timely.

In her notice of appeal, Ford stated, "[p]ersuant to Wis. Stat. § 808.04(1), the deadline for filing a notice of appeal is February 9, 2022. (R49:1). The order finding incompetency was signed and filed on November 12, 2021. (R25:1). Ford appears to believe she had 90 days to file the notice of appeal, but, as will be explained, the 45 day deadline applied.

Under Wis. Stat. § 809.10(1)(e), "[t]he notice of appeal must be filed within the time specified by law. The filing of a

^{902.01;} *Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522.

timely notice of appeal is necessary to give the court jurisdiction over the appeal."

A proceeding to determine whether a defendant is competent is separate and distinct from the defendant's underlying criminal proceeding. Thus, an order that a defendant is not competent to proceed is a final order issued in a special proceeding and is appealable as of right pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 808.03(1). *State v. Scott*, 2018 WI 74, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141.

Therefore, the timeline for filing a notice of appeal from an order determining incompetency is found under Wis. Stat. § 808.04(1), "[a]n appeal to the court of appeals must be initiated within 45 days of entry of a final judgment or order appealed from if written notice of the entry of a final judgment or order is given within 21 days of the final judgment or order as provided in s. 806.06 (5), or within 90 days of entry if notice is not given[.]"

Thus, the question of whether Ford had 45 days or 90 days to file a notice of appeal hinges on whether notice was given of the order. Criminal cases now use electronic filing, and Wis. Stat. § 967.12³ states that electronic filing in criminal cases is governed by Wis. Stat. § 801.18, which originally applied to civil cases.

The electronic filing system shall generate a notice of activity to the other users in the case when documents other than initiating documents are filed. Users shall access filed documents through the electronic filing system. For documents that do not require personal service, the notice of activity is valid and effective service on the other users and shall have the same effect as traditional service of a paper document, except as provided in par. (b).

Wisconsin. Stat. § 801.18(6)(a)

³ "Electronic filing. Section 801.18 shall govern the electronic filing of documents in criminal actions. Electronic filing may be made through a custom data exchange between the court case management system and the automated information system used by district attorneys."

Attorney Corey Flynn was appointed on October 18, 2021. (R15:1). Per CCAP, Attorney Corey Flynn was Ford's attorney from October 19, 2021 to February 2, 2022, and Attorney Paige Styler was Ford's attorney from December 21, 2021 to February 22, 2022. Attorney Styler electronically filed a document with the circuit court on December 3, 2021. (R28:1). The order determining incompetency was filed on November 12, 2021 and it specifically states "DISTRIBUTION: [...] 5. Defendant/Attorney." (R. 25:2). The order also specifically lists Attorneys Corey Flynn and Paige Styler as "Defense Attorney". (R25:2). Furthermore, those attorneys were present when the circuit court found Ford not competent to stand trial. (R87:1).

Therefore, the only possible conclusion is that Ford had notice of the circuit court's order finding her not competent to stand trial. That being the case, the 45 day deadline to file a notice of appeal applies. Wis. Stat. § 808.04(1). Forty-five days from November 12, 2021 was December 27, 2021. The notice of appeal is therefore untimely and this Court should find that it lacks jurisdiction and, consequently, dismiss this appeal.

II. The order determining incompetency is moot.

"An issue is moot when its resolution will have no practical effect on the underlying controversy." *State ex rel. Olson v. Litscher*, 2000 WI App 61, ¶ 3, 233 Wis. 2d 685, 608 N.W.2d 425. As a general rule, a court "will not consider a question the answer to which cannot have any practical effect upon an existing controversy." *State v. Leitner*, 2002 WI 77, ¶ 13, 253 Wis. 2d 449, 646 N.W.2d 341 (citation omitted).

Nonetheless, the reviewing court may otherwise address a moot issue when the issue:

(1) is of great public importance;

(2) occurs so frequently that a definitive decision is necessary to guide circuit courts;

(3) is likely to arise again and a decision of the court would alleviate uncertainty; or

(4) will likely be repeated, but evades appellate review because the appellate review process cannot

be completed or even undertaken in time to have a practical effect on the parties.

State v. Morford, 2004 WI 5, ¶ 7, 268 Wis. 2d 300.

This appeal is moot. Ford has been restored to competency and the underlying cases are administratively closed due to the amount of time it took to restore Ford to competency. Additionally, none of the exceptions to mootness apply.

On January 24, 2022, before Ford even filed her notice of appeal, Dr. Johnson had filed a new report with the circuit court opining that Ford "d[id] not lack substantial capacity to understand the proceedings and assist in her own defense." (R41:6)(emphasis removed). In a hearing on January 31, 2022, the Court found Ford competent to proceed and reinstated the proceedings. (R50:6). Thus, this appeal is moot. There is no possible relief available to Ford that this Court can grant. Ford asks the Court to "reverse the finding of incompetency". (Ford's Br., p. 13). However, that order was already superseded by the circuit court reinstating the proceedings. (R50:6). Ford was released from Mendota and the proceedings were reinstated. (*See* R50:6). The order finding incompetency failed to have any force, meaning, or impact after that hearing.

Furthermore, these cases are now administratively closed. Ford did not come to court on June 24, 2022, and a bench warrant was issued.⁴ Ford was returned on the bench warrant on July 29, 2022, and Ford's competency was again raised. On August 19, 2022, the proceedings were again suspended. On October 17, 2022, the circuit court received one final doctor's report, opining that Ford was not competent but likely to regain competency. However, due to expired maximum penalty time, the circuit court ordered Ford's cases administratively closed. This further shows how resolution of this appeal will have no possible impact on the underlying cases.

⁴ Again, this information comes from CCAP. This Court can take judicial notice of CCAP records. *See* Wis. Stat. § 902.01; *Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp.*, 2013 WI App 32, ¶5 n.1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522.

None of the exceptions to mootness apply. The issue raised is not of great public importance, it is merely of personal significance to Ford. This is unlikely to recur, as the impugned counsels have withdrawn. (R46; R48). Nor is this an issue that evades review. *State v. Scott* specifically enshrines an order determining incompetency as a final order for the purpose of appellate review. 2018 WI 74, 382 Wis. 2d 476, 914 N.W.2d 141. *Scott* makes a finding of incompetency a final order so that the defendant may appeal the findings so as to protect their right to be free from unwanted competency restoration. *Id.*, at ¶¶ 33, 44. That logic does not hold after the defendant has been restored to competency. This is doubly so after the case is administratively closed because the time to restore a defendant to competency has expired.

Consequently, this Court should find that these appeals are moot and affirm.

III. Ford raises ineffective assistance for the first time on appeal

Ford did not file a motion in the circuit court alleging ineffective assistance of counsel. Instead, for the first time, she raises the issue of their effectiveness on appeal. (Ford's Br., p. 3). For this reason alone, the Court can dispose of Ford's appeal. *See Shadley v. Lloyds of London*, 2009 WI App 165, ¶25, 322 Wis. 2d 189, 776 N.W.2d 838 ("It is well-established law in Wisconsin that those issues not presented to the trial court will not be considered for the first time at the appellate level."); *State v. Caban*, 210 Wis.2d 597, 604, 563 N.W.2d 501, 505 (1997) ("The party raising [an] issue on appeal has the burden of establishing, by reference to the record, that the issue was raised before the circuit court."). By failing to make a motion in the circuit court, Ford has not preserved the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel for review by this Court, so this Court should affirm the circuit court.⁵

Ford claims that, in the case of appealing a competency order, "[t]here is no provision [...] for post-conviction

⁵ Ford believed she was competent and trial counsel argued against finding her incompetent. (R87:8-17). This was sufficient to preserve for appeal the issue of whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion. But Ford has not raised that issue.

proceedings before a Notice of Appeal must be filed." (Ford's Br., p. 12). However, the law is clear that ineffective assistance claims must be raised before being appealed. To start, the court where an alleged ineffective assistance of counsel occurred is the proper forum in which to seek relief unless that forum is unable to provide the relief necessary to address the ineffectiveness claim. *State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard*, 2014 WI 38, 354 Wis. 2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805. In this instance, that would be the circuit court, and Ford made no argument why the circuit court is unable to provide relief.

There are many good reasons for this policy of raising ineffective assistance in the circuit court. First, the Court of Appeals is not a fact-finding court. *See Wurtz v. Fleishman*, 97 Wis. 2d 100, 107 n.3, 293 N.W.2d 155 (1980). It has long been the law that a hearing on ineffective assistance is required before an appeal is undertaken so counsel's testimony can be preserved. *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905, 908–09 (Ct. App. 1979);⁶ *State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 554, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998) (evidentiary hearing required for ineffective assistance of counsel claims).

Ford argues that no hearing is required as "[t]estimony from trial counsel cannot reasonably be required under *Machner* and would add nothing to the analysis of this case because there is no strategy that can unilaterally relieve counsel of the duty of confidentiality or the duty to pursue the client's goals." (Ford's Br., pp 11-12). Ford cites no law for this proposition and confuses several issues.

First, Ford needs a finding of fact that confidentiality was breached in order to even argue deficient performance. Ford appears to presume that, if there was a breach of the duty of confidentiality or "duty to pursue the client's goals", that would *per se* be deficient performance. The law says that is not the case. *Nix v. Whiteside*, 475 U.S. 157, 165, 106 S. Ct. 988, 993, 89 L. Ed. 2d 123 (1986) ("Under the *Strickland* standard,

⁶ "We hold that it is a prerequisite to a claim of ineffective representation on appeal to preserve the testimony of trial counsel. We cannot otherwise determine whether trial counsel's actions were the result of incompetence or deliberate trial strategies. In such situations, then, it is the better rule, and in the client's best interests, to require trial counsel to explain the reasons underlying his handling of a case." *Id.*

breach of an ethical standard does not necessarily make out a denial of the Sixth Amendment guarantee of assistance of counsel."). Even where our Supreme Court has disciplined an attorney for mishandling a defendant's case, that finding does not necessarily establish ineffective assistance. *State v. Cooper*, 2019 WI 73, ¶ 22, 387 Wis. 2d 439, 457, 929 N.W.2d 192, 201.⁷

Ford also needs a finding that she suffered prejudice from trial counsels' deficient performance. While Ford argues that she does not need to demonstrate prejudice, she cites no law for the proposition that a breach of confidentiality is a structural error. (Ford's Br., p. 9). The case Ford cites, Weaver v. Massachusetts, expressly found that a failure to object to what would have been structural error did not amount, per se, to fundamental unfairness such that no showing of prejudice was required. 198 L. Ed. 2d 420, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1911 (2017).⁸ Weaver does not, then, stand for the proposition that Ford does not need to demonstrate prejudice. Ford needs a hearing where she would bear the burden of demonstrating that she would not have been found incompetent but for the statements by her trial counsel to the examiner. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 695, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2068-69, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) (defining prejudice as "whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.").

⁷ "Although it is possible for an attorney's misconduct to be so grave that it deprives a defendant of the effective assistance of counsel, the causal link between the two is not one of necessity, but of possibility. That is to say, it is possible that an attorney could violate SCR 20:1.4(a)(2) without running afoul of *Strickland*; not every violation of the Rules will rise to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel. That is so because the standards established by the Rules do not necessarily correlate exactly with those described in substantive areas of the law." *State v. Cooper*, 2019 WI 73, ¶ 21, 387 Wis. 2d 439, 456, 929 N.W.2d 192, 200. ⁸ *Weaver* did, though, list the existing forms of structural error where no showing of prejudice is required:

Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S., at 278–279, 113 S.Ct. 2078 (failure to give a reasonable-doubt instruction); *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510, 535, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927) (biased judge); and *Vasquez v. Hillery*, 474 U.S., at 261–264, 106 S.Ct. 617 (exclusion of grand jurors on the basis of race). [...] This Court, in addition, has granted automatic relief to defendants who prevailed on claims alleging race or gender discrimination in the selection of the petit jury, see *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 100, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986); *J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T. B.*, 511 U.S. 127, 145–146, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994).

¹³⁷ S. Ct. at 1911.

Therefore, if the Court believes that it can entertain Ford's ineffective assistance claim, it should remand the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing where trial counsel testifies.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks the Court to dismiss the appeal for lack of jurisdiction and mootness, or affirm the circuit court for Ford's failure to preserve the ineffective assistance claim. In the alternative, the Court should remand for an evidentiary hearing.